Torsional birefringence in metric-affine Chern-Simons gravity: gravitational waves in late-time cosmology

S. Boudet,^{*a,b*,1} F. Bombacigno,^{*c*} F. Moretti,^{*c*} Gonzalo J. Olmo,^{*c,d*}

^aDipartimento di Fisica, Università di Trento,

- Via Sommarive 14, I-38123 Povo (TN), Italy
- ^bTrento Institute for Fundamental Physics and Applications (TIFPA)-INFN,
- Via Sommarive 14, I-38123 Povo (TN), Italy
- ^cDepartament de Física Teòrica and IFIC, Centro Mixto Universitat de València CSIC, Universitat de València, Burjassot 46100, València, Spain

^dUniversidade Federal do Ceará (UFC), Departamento de Física, Campus do Pici, Fortaleza - CE, C.P. 6030, 60455-760 - Brazil.

E-mail: simon.boudet@unitn.it, flavio2.bombacigno@uv.es, fabio.moretti@ext.uv.es, gonzalo.olmo@uv.es

Abstract. In the context of the metric-affine Chern-Simons gravity endowed with projective invariance, we derive analytical solutions for torsion and nonmetricity in the homogeneous and isotropic cosmological case, described by a flat Friedmann-Robertson-Walker metric. We discuss in some details the general properties of the cosmological solutions in the presence of a perfect fluid, such as the dynamical stability and the emergence of big bounce points, and we examine the structure of some specific solutions reproducing de Sitter and power law behaviours for the scale factor. Then, we focus on first-order perturbations in the de Sitter scenario, and we study the propagation of gravitational waves in the adiabatic limit, looking at tensor and scalar polarizations. In particular, we find that metric tensor modes couple to torsion tensor components, leading to the appearance, as in the metric version of Chern-Simons gravity, of birefringence, characterized by different dispersion relations for the left and right circularized polarization states. As a result, the purely tensor part of torsion propagates like a wave, while nonmetricity decouples and behaves like a harmonic oscillator. Finally, we discuss scalar modes, outlining as they decay exponentially in time and do not propagate.

¹Corresponding author.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Connection in projective invariant CSMG	3
	2.1 The role of the affine connection in dynamical instabilities	5
3	Solving the connection in FLRW spacetimes	7
4	Metric and scalar field equations	9
5	Analytic solutions	11
	5.1 De-Sitter phase of acceleration	11
	5.2 Power law solutions reproducing radiation and matter dominated eras	12
	5.3 Solution reproducing linear growth of the scale factor	12
6	Perturbations on FLRW background	13
	6.1 Scalar modes	18
7	Summary and discussion	19
A	Metric-affine formalism	20

1 Introduction

The existence of physical phenomena still evading a convincing explanation within General Relativity (GR) has driven the literature towards the study of extended theories of gravity [1-11], aimed to address open cosmological and astrophysical problems. Considering the wide variety of theories proposed, it is of paramount importance to constrain available models with observations. In the past years, gravitational wave astronomy opened a new paradigm in this direction and recent and upcoming improvements in their detection are expected to offer new observational inputs.

Amidst extended theories of gravity, those characterized by parity violation are receiving growing attention. Symmetries play a crucial role in our current description of nature and among them, parity is well known to be violated in the Standard Model by the weak interaction. Although General Relativity preserves parity, the question whether the gravitational interaction violates it, is still object of debate and efforts have been devoted to investigate the effects of gravitational parity violation. In this regard, over the years some gravitational models have been proposed, dealing with different kinds of modifications to the standard GR action, like Holst and Nieh-Yan extensions [12, 13], degenerate higher-order scalar-tensor theories (DHOST) [14, 15], Chern-Simons modified gravity (CSMG) [16, 17], Hořava-Lifshitz gravity [18, 19] and bumblebee models [20–26].

The CSMG, originally formulated by Jackiw and Pi in [27], is based on the Chern-Simons modification of electrodynamics [28]. In this theory, the U(1)-gauge topological Pontryagin density, $*FF \equiv *F^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\nu}$, is coupled to a pseudo-scalar field $\theta(x)$ and it is added to the Maxwell Lagrangian, without violating the gauge invariance. Such a modification, however, is responsible for the Lorentz/CPT symmetry violation [28], as it can be appreciated

by rewriting the modified term into the Carroll-Field-Jackiw form, i.e. $v_{\mu} * F^{\mu\nu} A_{\nu}$, where $v_{\mu} \equiv \partial_{\mu} \theta$ is the axial vector leading to the Lorentz/CPT symmetry breaking. In a wider sense, moreover, it is possible to identify v_{μ} with one of the coefficients pertaining the Lorentz/CPT violation in the Standard Model Extension (SME) [20, 29, 30]. Then, in a similar vein, CSMG is obtained by adding to the Lagrangian of GR the gravitational Pontryagin density, coupled to $\theta(x)$ and defined by $*RR \equiv *R^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}R_{\nu\mu\alpha\beta}$.

Different versions of CSMG have been explored. A first broad distinction, characterizing any geometric theory of gravity, corresponds to the two possible assumptions regarding the metric and affine structures of the theory. Most of the literature is focused on the purely metric version of CSMG, obtained imposing a symmetric and metric compatible connection. On the other hand, the alternative metric-affine version of the theory, where the metric and the connection are a priori independent, has received little attention, despite being closer to a gauge theory [31, 32], since the CS term is built from the connection of the corresponding gauge field. Moreover, most of the work on metric-affine CSMG focuses on theoretical aspects [33–38], while observable effects have only been derived in [39].

A further classification consists in the possibility of including in the action a standard kinetic term for the pseudo-scalar field or not. The terminology commonly used refers to dynamical and non-dynamical CSMG, respectively, and it was established in the context of metric CSMG, where in the non-dynamical case the scalar field is not a proper dynamical degree of freedom and has to be externally prescribed, ultimately yielding issues such as over-constrained systems of equations in black hole settings [40], that are only solved in the dynamical theory, where $\theta(x)$ is endowed with a proper dynamics. On the contrary, as it was recently shown in [39], in metric-affine CSMG the kinetic term for the pseudo-scalar field plays no fundamental role and both the options are actually viable and lead to a consistent theory.

In this work we will consider the metric-affine CSMG model proposed in [39], where the invariance under projective transformations of the connection is reinstated modifying the Pontryagin density with additional terms depending on the nonmetricity. This is done in the spirit of preventing the presence of dynamical instabilities as a result of breaking the projective symmetry in metric-affine theories of gravity [41, 42]. We remark, however, that in a broader sense dynamical instabilities can always arise due to the appearance of derivatives of higher order for the metric field, just as much as in the metric formulation of CSMG, where the Pontryagin density is ultimately responsible for the appearance in the metric field equations of derivatives of the Riemann tensor, leading to third order derivatives for the metric field. In our case, we managed to demonstrate that such terms can only be introduced by specific components of the purely tensor part of the connection, potentially offering a way for evading this issue by looking at peculiar geometric structures of the theory. In fact, the highly non trivial structure of the connection field equations is one of the main difficulties in finding exact solutions. It can be tackled via a perturbative approach, as in [39], or exploiting, indeed, the symmetries of the spacetime under consideration, as it is done in this work. In particular, we focus on isotropic and homogeneous cosmological settings, deriving analytical solutions for the connection, which turns out to be expressed in terms of the metric and scalar field. Their behavior is then computed solving the remaining equations, resulting in several, physically viable scenarios.

Among them we examine in more depth the case of a de Sitter expansion phase, studying the propagation of gravitational waves on such background, with the aim of highlighting potentially observable effects. In CSMG, these are usually affected by parity violation, which is expected to leave distinctive features as already well established in contexts such as CMB polarization [43–46], the baryon asymmetry problem [47–49] and black hole perturbations [50–53]. The effects of metric CSMG on primordial gravitational waves and inflation have been addressed in [54–57].

Parity violation is known to give rise to birefringence phenomena [15, 58–63]. In particular, we speak of velocity birefringence when waves with left and right handed polarizations [64] propagate with different speeds, while in the presence of a different friction term for the two modes we have amplitude birefringence, in which the enhancement or suppression of the wave depends on its chiral state. Furthermore, when propagation within a material medium is also considered, it can be demonstrated that velocity birefringence can generate amplitude birefringence through the Landau damping phenomenon [65], consisting in the kinematic damping of gravitational waves in the absence of collisions (see [66–77] for more details). Gravitational wave birefringence is a well-established result of metric CSMG [27, 78–81], and in this work we show for the first time how such a phenomenon is present also in the metric-affine formulation. In particular, we demonstrate how in the adiabatic limit birefringence is induced by the coupling of the gravitational perturbations with the tensor torsion stresses, which as a result dynamically propagate as a wave. Scalar modes, instead, do not exhibit wave propagation in agreement with the results of metric CSMG, and corresponding torsion and nonmetricity components just decay exponentially in time.

The paper is organized as follows. In section 2 we briefly review the results of [39] and we discuss in some detail the role of the affine connection in generating dynamical instabilities. In section 3 we solve the equations for the affine connection for an isotropic and homogeneous cosmological background, deriving the expressions for its components in terms of the Hubble function and the pseudo-scalar field. In section 4 we derive the equations for the metric and the pseudo-scalar field in the presence of a stress energy tensor for a perfect fluid, and we discuss some general properties of the associated Friedmann equation. In section 5 we explicitly calculate some analytic solutions, reproducing the well known profiles of the de Sitter and power-law behaviours. Then in section 6 we study the propagation of gravitational waves on the de Sitter background, analyzing in some detail the origin and the properties of the birefringence. Finally, in section 7 conclusions are drawn and future perspectives outlined.

Spacetime signature is chosen mostly plus and the gravitational coupling set as $\kappa^2 = 8\pi$, using geometrized units: G = c = 1. The Levi-Civita tensor $\varepsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ is defined in terms of the completely antisymmetric symbol $\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$, with $\epsilon_{0123} = 1$. For details on the metric-affine formalism and the conventions used we refer the reader to App. A.

2 Connection in projective invariant CSMG

In this section we briefly review the results of [39], to which we refer the reader for all the details concerning the metric-affine formulation of Chern-Simons gravity. The starting point of our analysis is the action

$$S = \frac{1}{2\kappa^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left(\mathcal{R} + \frac{\alpha}{8} \theta(x) \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \left(\mathcal{R}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu\nu} \mathcal{R}^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{4} \hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\mu\nu} \hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\rho\sigma} \right) - \frac{\beta}{2} \nabla_{\mu} \theta \nabla^{\mu} \theta \right), \quad (2.1)$$

where $\mathcal{R}^{\mu}{}_{\nu\rho\sigma}$ is the Riemann tensor of the torsionfull and not metric compatible independent connection, $\hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{R}^{\mu}{}_{\mu\rho\sigma}$ is the homotetic curvature and $\theta(x)$ is a pseudo-scalar field (for definitions and notations regarding the metric-affine formalism we refer the reader to Appendix A). Like in the metric formulation, this action contains two parameters α and β , which control the modified Pontryagin density and the kinetic term for the pseudo-scalar field, respectively. By inspection of (2.1), we see that the dimensions of these objects must be the following powers of a length: $[\alpha] = L^A$, $[\theta] = L^{2-A}$, $[\beta] = L^{2A-4}$, with A an arbitrary constant. Note that α can always be reabsorbed in the definition of θ by the rescaling $\theta \to \theta/\alpha$ and $\beta \to \alpha^2 \beta$. This amounts to set A = 0 and work with $[\theta] = L^2$ and $[\beta] = L^{-4}$, as we will do in section 3.

As discussed in [39], the action (2.1) represents the only metric-affine Chern-Simons model endowed with a modified Pontryagin term which remains invariant under the projective transformation

$$\Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} \to \tilde{\Gamma}^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} + \delta^{\rho}_{\ \mu}\xi_{\nu}, \qquad (2.2)$$

and does not spoil topologicity for a constant $\theta(x)$, as it can be verified from:

$$\sqrt{-g}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \left(\mathcal{R}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu\nu}\mathcal{R}^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{4}\hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\mu\nu}\hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\rho\sigma} \right) =
= \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\partial_{\mu} \left(\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\nu}\partial_{\rho}\Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\sigma} + \frac{2}{3}\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\nu}\Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\gamma\rho}\Gamma^{\gamma}{}_{\alpha\sigma} - \frac{1}{4}\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha\nu}\partial_{\rho}\Gamma^{\beta}{}_{\beta\sigma} \right).$$
(2.3)

Now, by varying (2.1) with respect to the affine connection we can derive the general equation

$$-\nabla_{\lambda}\left(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}\right) + \delta^{\nu}_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}\left(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\rho}\right) + \sqrt{-g}\left(g^{\mu\nu}T^{\tau}_{\ \lambda\tau} - \delta^{\nu}_{\ \lambda}T^{\tau\mu}_{\ \tau} + T^{\nu\mu}_{\ \lambda}\right) = = \frac{\alpha}{2}\sqrt{-g}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\nu}\left(\mathcal{R}^{\mu}_{\ \lambda\beta\gamma} - \frac{1}{4}\delta^{\mu}_{\ \lambda}\hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\beta\gamma}\right)\nabla_{\alpha}\theta,$$
(2.4)

where ∇ stands for the general covariant derivative defined from the entire connection. From (2.4), by taking into account the decomposition of torsion and nonmetricity in their irreducible components and setting the trace of torsion to zero by virtue of the projective invariance (see the discussion in [39] and Appendix A), it is possible to extract the equations for the vector and tensor part, which can be arranged respectively as

$$4P_{\mu} - Q_{\mu} = \frac{\alpha}{2} \left(\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} \left(\mathcal{R}_{\mu\beta\gamma\delta} + \mathcal{R}_{\beta\mu\gamma\delta} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \varepsilon_{\mu}^{\ \alpha\beta\gamma} \hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\beta\gamma} \right) \nabla_{\alpha}\theta, \qquad (2.5)$$

$$P_{\mu} - Q_{\mu} = \frac{\alpha}{2} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} \left(\mathcal{R}_{\mu\beta\gamma\delta} - \mathcal{R}_{\beta\mu\gamma\delta} \right) \nabla_{\alpha}\theta, \qquad (2.6)$$

$$S_{\mu} = \alpha \left(\mathcal{R}^{\rho}{}_{\mu} + \mathcal{R}^{\rho\sigma}{}_{\mu\sigma} - \delta^{\rho}{}_{\mu}\mathcal{R} \right) \nabla_{\rho}\theta, \qquad (2.7)$$

and

$$q_{\nu\mu\lambda} - \Omega_{\lambda\mu\nu} = \frac{\alpha}{2} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma}{}_{\nu} \left(\mathcal{R}_{\mu\lambda\beta\gamma} - \frac{1}{4} g_{\mu\lambda} \hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\beta\gamma} \right) \nabla_{\alpha} \theta - \frac{1}{6} \varepsilon_{\nu\mu\lambda\sigma} S^{\sigma} + \frac{1}{9} \left(g_{\mu\nu} \left(2Q_{\lambda} + P_{\lambda} \right) - g_{\nu\lambda} \left(4Q_{\mu} - 7P_{\mu} \right) + g_{\mu\lambda} \left(\frac{1}{2} Q_{\nu} - 2P_{\nu} \right) \right).$$

$$(2.8)$$

In the following, it will be useful to separate (2.8) into its symmetric and antisymmetric parts in the indices μ , λ , in order to deal as in (2.5)-(2.6) with the symmetric and antisymmetric part of the Riemann tensor in its first two indices, i.e.

$$\Omega_{(\lambda\mu)\nu} = -\frac{\alpha}{2} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma}{}_{\nu} \left(\mathcal{R}_{(\mu\lambda)\beta\gamma} - \frac{1}{4} g_{\mu\lambda} \hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\beta\gamma} \right) \nabla_{\alpha} \theta + \frac{1}{9} \left(g_{\mu\nu} \left(4P_{\lambda} - Q_{\lambda} \right) + g_{\lambda\nu} \left(4P_{\mu} - Q_{\mu} \right) - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\lambda} \left(4P_{\nu} - Q_{\nu} \right) \right)$$
(2.9)

and

$$q_{\nu\mu\lambda} - \Omega_{[\lambda\mu]\nu} = \frac{\alpha}{2} \varepsilon^{\alpha\beta\gamma}{}_{\nu} \left(\mathcal{R}_{[\mu\lambda]\beta\gamma} \right) \nabla_{\alpha}\theta + \frac{1}{6} \varepsilon_{\nu\mu\lambda\sigma} S^{\sigma} - \frac{1}{3} \left(g_{\mu\nu} \left(Q_{\lambda} - P_{\lambda} \right) - g_{\lambda\nu} \left(Q_{\mu} - P_{\mu} \right) \right).$$

$$(2.10)$$

The advantage of such a decomposition relies on the possibility of isolating the purely metric part of the Riemann tensor, which according to (A.20) results encoded in the antisymmetric component of the first two indices, i.e.

$$\mathcal{R}_{[\mu\rho]\nu\sigma} = R_{\mu\rho\nu\sigma} + A_{[\mu\rho]\nu\sigma}, \qquad (2.11)$$

where we denoted with $A_{\mu\rho\nu\sigma}$ the non-Riemannian terms depending on the distorsion tensor. The symmetric part, instead, can be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{R}_{(\mu\rho)\nu\sigma} = \nabla_{[\nu}Q_{\sigma]\mu\rho} - \frac{1}{2}T^{\tau}_{\nu\sigma}Q_{\tau\mu\rho}, \qquad (2.12)$$

which can be obtained from the commutator of the covariant derivatives

$$[\nabla_{\nu}, \nabla_{\sigma}]t_{\mu\rho} = -\mathcal{R}^{\tau}{}_{\mu\nu\sigma}t_{\tau\rho} - \mathcal{R}^{\tau}{}_{\rho\nu\sigma}t_{\mu\tau} + T^{\tau}{}_{\nu\sigma}\nabla_{\tau}t_{\mu\rho}, \qquad (2.13)$$

once we identify the generic tensor $t_{\mu\rho}$ with the metric field $g_{\mu\rho}$ and we take into account the definition of nonmetricity.

2.1 The role of the affine connection in dynamical instabilities

Dynamical instabilities can arise if derivatives of order higher than two appear in the equations of motion [21, 82–87], and it is known, for instance, that metric CSMG is fully coherent only in the limit of small coupling $|\alpha^2/\beta| \ll 1$, where the Pontryagin density is subdominant with respect to the kinetic term for $\theta(x)$ [88]. This is due to the fact that the Chern-Simons modification is responsible for an additional contribution in the equation of the metric field, the so-called C-tensor [16, 27], which containing derivatives of the Ricci tensor, causes the presence of third order derivatives of $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$ in the field equations. In our case, instead, by varying (2.1) with respect to the metric, we simply obtain

$$\mathcal{R}_{(\mu\nu)} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\mathcal{R} = \kappa^2 T_{\mu\nu} + \frac{\beta}{2} \left(\nabla_{\mu}\theta\nabla_{\nu}\theta - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\rho}\theta\nabla^{\rho}\theta \right), \qquad (2.14)$$

which by taking into account (A.20) can be still rearranged in a form resembling its purely metric counterpart, i.e.

$$G_{\mu\nu} + C_{\mu\nu} = \kappa^2 T_{\mu\nu} + \frac{\beta}{2} \left(\nabla_{\mu} \theta \nabla_{\nu} \theta - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\rho} \theta \nabla^{\rho} \theta \right) \equiv \kappa^2 T^{TOT}_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (2.15)$$

where the C-tensor is now identified with the metric-affine terms containing the distorsion tensor (see (A.22)).

A careful analysis of (A.22) allows us to identify the origin of possible dynamical instabilities in the dependence of the distorsion tensor on second order derivatives of the metric and pseudo-scalar fields. Then, if we look back at the equations for the connection, we immediately see that $\theta(x)$ only appears by means of its first derivative, so that dynamical instabilities can be only caused by the metric field, that is to say by metric Riemann tensor terms potentially appearing in (2.4). In particular, it is easy to observe that such terms can be always neglected in the equations for the vectors components. In (2.5)-(2.6), indeed, the metric Riemann tensor term cancels out by virtue of the Bianchi identity, while the equation for the axial trace, by using the equation for the metric field, can be recast as

$$S_{\mu} = \alpha \left(2\kappa T_{\rho\mu}^{TOT} + (\cdots) \right) \partial^{\rho} \theta, \qquad (2.16)$$

where the dots stand for contributions proportional to the distorsion tensor $N^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$ and its metric covariant derivative. It follows, therefore, that in vacuum, where no additional interaction terms are introduced at the effective level by the axial trace, the metric Riemann tensor only survives in (2.10), which is ultimately responsible for the presence or not of dynamical instabilities in metric-affine CSMG. Actually, we note that a non vanishing stress energy tensor does not necessarily imply the emergence of instabilities. Indeed, if the tensor $T_{\mu\nu}$ contains only first covariant derivatives of the field, as it occurs for example for the standard scalar or electromagnetic cases, the purely affine components of the Riemann tensor can generate in the equation of motion for $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $\theta(x)$ at most second order derivatives. On the other hand, second derivatives of the matter fields featuring the $T_{\mu\nu}$ would already imply third order derivatives in the equations of those fields, representing an issue in itself, unrelated to the setting of metric-affine CSMG.

These considerations can help us in designing strategies for ensuring the absence of higher-order derivatives in the field equations. This is the same requirement needed in the metric CSMG, as mentioned at the beginning of this section. However, the crucial difference with respect to metric CSMG is that in that case higher-order derivatives directly appear in the metric field equation, while in the metric-affine theory they are introduced via the affine contributions only if the latter depend on them. This additional step allows for a new approach to this problem that is not available in metric CSMG, which consists on acting previously on the kinematic structure of the theory. This can be achieved, for instance, by considering from the very beginning simplified metric-affine geometries, where the rank-3 tensor part of torsion and nonmetricity is neglected, and we only deal with vector components. Such an assumption, indeed, automatically gets rid of (2.10), leaving us only with the set of equations for the nonmetricity vectors (2.5) - (2.6), and the axial trace of torsion (2.7). It represents the minimal prescription for preserving projective invariance, given that $q_{\rho\mu\nu}$ and $\Omega_{\rho\mu\nu}$ are unaffected by (2.2), and the requirement they are vanishing does not spoil in principle the hypothesis of (2.1). In this approach, higher-order derivatives would be absent at the full unperturbed and background independent level, without imposing restrictions on the parameters of the theory.

If instead the tensorial parts are considered, one is forced to resort to approaches analogue to the ones adopted in the metric theory. For instance, one can consider metric-affine CSMG only as an effective theory in the small coupling limit $\alpha \ll 1$ ($\alpha \theta \ll 1$, after the rescalings performed in section 3), thus making the first term on the right-hand side of (2.10) negligible, ensuring the absence of higher-order derivatives at the effective level. The same outcome is also obtained in the linearized setting already adopted in [39], where the perturbative expansion of the scalar field is performed on a constant background.

Finally, a viable strategy consists in seeking for spacetime configurations where the components of the metric Riemann tensor containing second order derivatives of the metric field are prevented from appearing in (2.10) by the symmetries of the problem, which restricting the possible dependence of $\theta(x)$ on specific spacetime coordinates, also selects the components of the Riemann tensor. The equations describing the evolution of the connection

reduce then to a highly coupled system of first order differential equations for the metricaffine components, which contain at most first derivatives of the pseudo-scalar field and of the metric tensor, by means of the Levi-Civita connection appearing in the metric covariant derivatives.

Even though the role of matter in generating instabilities evades the purpose of this work and it calls for further investigations, we remark that the previous conclusion relies on the assumption that the connection does not couple to matter. In fact, in the general case of a non vanishing hypermomentum [89, 90]

$$\Delta_{\lambda}^{\ \mu\nu} \equiv -\frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S_M}{\delta \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}} \neq 0, \qquad (2.17)$$

where S_M denotes collectively the Lagrangian for the matter fields, we expect contributions analogous to the one in (2.16), in terms of the hypermomentum components, also in the equations for the other parts of $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}$, so that no conclusive arguments can be drawn in this situation. In the following we discuss in detail the case of Friedman-Lemaitre-Robertson-Walker (FLRW) cosmology, where the symmetries of the spacetime enable us to derive analytical solutions devoid of instabilities both for the metric and affine part.

3 Solving the connection in FLRW spacetimes

Let us consider a FLRW line element in spherical coordinates, i.e.

$$ds^{2} = -dt^{2} + a^{2}(t) \left(\frac{dr^{2}}{1 - kr^{2}} + r^{2}(d\psi^{2} + \sin^{2}\psi d\varphi^{2}) \right).$$
(3.1)

For such a configuration, second-order derivatives of the metric are displayed only in the Riemann components

$$R_{trtr} = -\frac{a\ddot{a}}{1-kr^2}, \ R_{t\psi t\psi} = -r^2 a\ddot{a}, \ R_{t\varphi t\varphi} = -r^2 \sin^2 \psi a\ddot{a}.$$
(3.2)

Now, since $\theta = \theta(t)$, (3.2) can never appear in (2.10), where we simply retain the purely spatial part of the Riemann tensor, i.e.

$$\frac{\dot{\theta}}{2} \varepsilon^{tij}_{\ \ k} R_{ijij}, \tag{3.3}$$

which contains at most first derivatives of the metric function a(t). Then, as discussed in [90, 91], isotropy and homogeneity allow us to rewrite the connection in terms of a set of five scalar functions $\{K_1(t), ..., K_5(t)\}$, which entirely define the affine structure of the spacetime (see also [92, 93] for exact black hole solutions in metric-affine models). In particular, in the

flat k = 0 case, the vector and tensor components of the connection result in

$$T^t = 3(K_3 - K_4), (3.4)$$

$$S^t = -\frac{12K_5}{a},$$
 (3.5)

$$Q^t = 2K_1 + 6K_4 - 6H, (3.6)$$

$$P^t = 2K_1 - 3\frac{K_2}{a^2} + 3K_3, (3.7)$$

$$\Omega_{ttt} = -K_1 + K_3 + K_4 - \frac{K_2}{a^2} - H, \qquad (3.8)$$

$$\Omega_{t\psi\psi} = \Omega_{\psi\psi t} = r^2 \Omega_{trr}, \tag{3.9}$$

$$\Omega_{t\varphi\varphi} = \Omega_{\varphi\varphi t} = r^2 \sin^2 \psi \Omega_{trr}, \qquad (3.10)$$

$$\Omega_{trr} = \Omega_{rrt} = \frac{a^2}{3} \Omega_{ttt}, \qquad (3.11)$$

$$q_{\mu\nu\rho} = 0, \tag{3.12}$$

where $H = \dot{a}/a$ is the usual Hubble function. We immediately see that having imposed the condition $T_{\mu} = 0$ by virtue of the projective invariance, leads us to the constraint $K_4(t) = K_3(t)$. With a bit of work, **two solutions** to (2.4) can be obtained and the form of the connection is completely determined in terms of the metric functions and scalar field¹:

$$K_1(t) = -\frac{HK_5\theta}{a + K_5\dot{\theta}},\tag{3.13}$$

$$K_2(t) = \frac{a^3 H}{a + K_5 \dot{\theta}},$$
(3.14)

$$K_3(t) = K_4 = \frac{aH}{a + K_5 \dot{\theta}},$$
(3.15)

$$K_5(t) = \frac{a}{\dot{\theta}} \left(-1 + \epsilon \sqrt{\frac{1 + \sqrt{1 + 4H^2 \dot{\theta}^2}}{2}} \right), \qquad (3.16)$$

where we assumed $a + K_5 \dot{\theta} \neq 0$ and we introduced the parameter $\epsilon = \pm 1$ in order to label the different solutions. We note that for $a + K_5 \dot{\theta} = 0$, the connection equation yields the condition $H(t) \equiv 0$, which corresponds to a static solution where the scale factor does not evolve in time. Eventually, inserting the solutions for $\{K_1, ..., K_5\}$ in (3.4)-(3.12), we end up with

$$S^{t} = \frac{12K_{5}}{a} = \frac{12}{\dot{\theta}} \left(-1 + \epsilon \sqrt{\frac{1 + \sqrt{1 + 4H^{2}\dot{\theta}^{2}}}{2}} \right), \qquad (3.17)$$

$$Q^{t} = 4P^{t} = -8K_{1} = 8H\left(1 - \epsilon\sqrt{\frac{2}{1 + \sqrt{1 + 4H^{2}\dot{\theta}^{2}}}}\right),$$
(3.18)

while all other affine components are vanishing. In particular, the tensor part of the connection is identically vanishing and for a FLRW spacetime we only deal with the vector part, which is characterized by a Weyl geometry configuration, where $Q_{\rho\mu\nu} = P_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}$ (see (A.7)).

¹From now on we set $\alpha = 1$ and therefore $[\theta] = L^2$, $[\beta] = L^{-4}$ (see section 2).

4 Metric and scalar field equations

We consider now the equation for the metric field, which as observed in sec. 2 can be rewritten as

$$G_{\mu\nu} + C_{\mu\nu} = \frac{\beta}{2} \left(\nabla_{\mu} \theta \nabla_{\nu} \theta - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\rho} \theta \nabla^{\rho} \theta \right) + \kappa T_{\mu\nu}, \tag{4.1}$$

where $T_{\mu\nu}$ is the stress energy tensor for a perfect fluid:

$$T_{\mu\nu} = (\rho + p)u_{\mu}u_{\nu} + pg_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (4.2)

For a purely vector connection, endowed with a Weyl structure, the C-tensor assumes the form

$$C_{\mu\nu} = -\bar{\nabla}_{(\mu}P_{\nu)} + g_{\mu\nu}\bar{\nabla}_{\rho}P^{\rho} + \frac{1}{2}\left(P_{\mu}P_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}P_{\rho}P^{\rho}\right) - \frac{1}{72}\left(S_{\mu}S_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}S_{\rho}S^{\rho}\right), \quad (4.3)$$

and substituting the solution for the connection in terms of the $K_i(t)$, we obtain its non vanishing components:

$$C_{t}^{t} = 3\left(\frac{K_{5}}{a}\right)^{2} + 3H^{2}\left(1 - \left(\frac{a}{a + K_{5}\dot{\theta}}\right)^{2}\right), \tag{4.4}$$

$$C_{r}^{r} = \left(\frac{K_{5}}{a}\right)^{2} + (2\dot{H} + 3H^{2})\left(\frac{K_{5}\dot{\theta}}{a + K_{5}\dot{\theta}}\right)^{2} + \frac{2\frac{d}{dt}(aH\dot{\theta}K_{5})}{a^{2}\left(a + K_{5}\dot{\theta}\right)^{2}},\tag{4.5}$$

$$C^{\theta}_{\ \theta} = C^{\varphi}_{\ \varphi} = C^{r}_{\ r}. \tag{4.6}$$

More interestingly, the C-tensor can also be written as the effective stress energy tensor for a perfect fluid with energy density ρ_{eff} and pressure p_{eff} , by the identification

$$T^{eff}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{C_{\mu\nu}}{\kappa} \equiv (\rho_{eff} + p_{eff})u_{\mu}u_{\nu} + p_{eff}g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (4.7)$$

where by comparison with (3.17)-(3.18) it is possible to obtain the following expressions for density and pressure, i.e.

$$\rho_{eff} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \left(\frac{3}{4} (P^t)^2 - \frac{1}{48} (S^t)^2 - 3HP^t \right), \tag{4.8}$$

$$p_{eff} = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \left(\frac{1}{144} (S^t)^2 - \frac{1}{4} (P^t)^2 + 2HP^t + \dot{P}^t \right), \tag{4.9}$$

whose ratio defines the effective polytropic index

$$w_{eff} = \frac{p_{eff}}{\rho_{eff}}.$$
(4.10)

This interpretation of the C-tensor allows us to rewrite (4.1), by setting $u^{\mu} = (1, 0, 0, 0)$, as

$$3H^2 = \kappa \tilde{\rho} + \frac{\beta}{4} \dot{\theta}^2, \qquad (4.11)$$

$$3H^2 + 2\dot{H} = -\kappa\tilde{p} - \frac{\beta}{4}\dot{\theta}^2, \qquad (4.12)$$

where

$$\tilde{\rho} \equiv \rho + \rho_{eff}, \qquad \tilde{p} \equiv p + p_{eff}.$$
(4.13)

It is therefore clear that torsion and nonmetricity contribute to the total amount of energy concretely determining the evolution of the scale factor, so that it seems reasonable to demand for the positiveness of $\tilde{\rho}$, rather than merely for ρ (see the discussion at the end of this section and in section 5).

Now, regarding the equation for the pseudo-scalar field, we start by varying (2.1) with respect to $\theta(x)$, which gives us

$$\beta \Box \theta + \frac{1}{8} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \left(\mathcal{R}^{\alpha}{}_{\beta\mu\nu} \mathcal{R}^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\rho\sigma} - \frac{1}{4} \mathcal{R}^{\alpha}{}_{\alpha\mu\nu} \mathcal{R}^{\beta}{}_{\beta\rho\sigma} \right) = 0, \qquad (4.14)$$

which once we take into account the affine structure results in:

$$\beta\left(\ddot{\theta}+3H\dot{\theta}\right)+\mathcal{D}_1(a,\dot{a},\dot{\theta},\ddot{\theta})+\mathcal{D}_2(a,\dot{a},\ddot{a},\dot{\theta})=0,$$
(4.15)

where the functions \mathcal{D}_1 , \mathcal{D}_2 are given by

$$\mathcal{D}_1(a, \dot{a}, \dot{\theta}, \ddot{\theta}) \equiv 6\dot{K}_5 \left(\frac{2a^2H^2}{(a+K_5\dot{\theta})^3} - \frac{aH^2}{(a+K_5\dot{\theta})^2} - \frac{K_5^2}{a^3} \right) - \frac{12aH^2K_5^2}{(a+K_5\dot{\theta})^3}\ddot{\theta}, \tag{4.16}$$

$$\mathcal{D}_2(a, \dot{a}, \ddot{a}, \dot{\theta}) \equiv 12aHK_5 \left(\frac{2H^2 + \dot{H}}{(a + K_5 \dot{\theta})^2} - \frac{aH^2}{(a + K_5 \dot{\theta})^3} \right).$$
(4.17)

As already observed in [39], in the limit $\beta \to 0$ the equation for $\theta(t)$ is still dynamical, as opposed to what occurs in the metric formulation of the CSMG, where in the absence of the kinetic term for the pseudo-scalar field one deals with an over-constrained metric theory (see [40]). Even if the explicit form of the C-tensor and the pseudo-scalar field equation are quite involved, several analytical solutions can be still derived for the case $\beta = 0$, which remarkably admits GR known solutions for the scale factor evolution in the presence of non trivial energy density profiles. In particular, by assuming pressure and energy density related by the equation of state $p = w\rho$, where w denotes here the polytropic index for the perfect fluid quantities, and since it is possible to check that the stress energy tensor is conserved throughout the solutions, which is to say that the C-tensor is covariantly conserved, i.e. ${}^{(L)}\nabla_{\mu}C^{\mu\nu} = 0$, we can still express the energy density as $\rho = \frac{\rho_0}{a^{3(1+w)}}$, with ρ_0 a constant. It is possible to show, moreover, that the relation $a + K_5\dot{\theta} \neq 0$ is preserved by the dynamics. Then, with a bit of manipulation, we can rearrange the tt component of the metric equation in the canonical form

$$H^{2} = \frac{\left(2\left(1 + \frac{\dot{\theta}^{2}}{6}\left(\kappa\rho + \frac{\beta}{4}\dot{\theta}^{2}\right)\right)^{2} - 1\right)^{2} - 1}{4\dot{\theta}^{2}},$$
(4.18)

which represents the Friedmann equation for the metric-affine CSMG in the presence of a perfect fluid, and where with respect to (4.11) we made explicit the dependence of $\tilde{\rho}$ on the scale factor and the pseudo-scalar field. Then, by requiring $H^2 \geq 0$, we end up with the conditions

$$\kappa\rho \le -\frac{48 + \beta\dot{\theta}^4}{4\dot{\theta}^2} \quad \cup \quad \kappa\rho = -\frac{24 + \beta\dot{\theta}^4}{4\dot{\theta}^2} \quad \cup \quad \kappa\rho \ge -\frac{\beta\dot{\theta}^2}{4}, \tag{4.19}$$

and we see that for $\beta \geq 0$, where no ghost instabilities can arise in (2.1), there exist domains for the energy density of the perfect fluid where it apparently takes negative values, i.e. $\rho_0 < 0$. However, as formerly outlined and furtherly discussed in section 5, the contribution of torsion and nonmetricity can restore the correct sign for the total energy density. In addition, making explicit the dependence of ρ on the scale factor, it is possible to derive from (4.19) the values of the scale factor where the Hubble function vanishes, i.e.

$$a_B = \left\{ \left(-\frac{48 + \beta \dot{\theta}^4}{4\kappa \rho_0 \dot{\theta}^2} \right)^{-\frac{1}{3(1+w)}}, \left(-\frac{24 + \beta \dot{\theta}^4}{4\kappa \rho_0 \dot{\theta}^2} \right)^{-\frac{1}{3(1+w)}}, \left(-\frac{\beta \dot{\theta}^2}{4\kappa \rho_0} \right)^{-\frac{1}{3(1+w)}} \right\}_{\dot{\theta} = \dot{\theta}_B}.$$
 (4.20)

Even if it goes beyond the scope of this work, here we just note that they represent possible big bounce points, characterizing the evolution of the scale factor in the context of the CSMG, provided configurations with $\rho_0 < 0$, besides those ones discussed in section 5, be feasible.

5 Analytic solutions

In this section we discuss in more detail the analytic solutions which can be obtained neglecting the kinetic term for the pseudo-scalar field θ , so that all the solutions are to be intended for² $\beta = 0$. Moreover, for each solution we have to select one of the two solutions for the connection labeled by ϵ . In particular, the first two cases presented below are solutions to the equations only for $\epsilon = -1$, while $\epsilon = +1$ leads to inconsistencies. In the third case the situation is analogous but with the consistent solution now identified by $\epsilon = +1$.

5.1 De-Sitter phase of acceleration

Here we set w = -1, corresponding to $\rho = \rho_0$, and we select $\epsilon = -1$. Under these assumptions it is possible to derive the following solutions for the scale factor and the pseudo-scalar field:

$$a(t) = a_0 e^{t\sqrt{\Lambda/3}},\tag{5.1}$$

$$\theta(t) = \pm \frac{6}{\sqrt{\Lambda}} t + \theta_0, \tag{5.2}$$

where a_0 , θ_0 are arbitrary constants and the value of ρ_0 is determined by

$$\rho_0 = -\Lambda/2\kappa. \tag{5.3}$$

We note that since $\Lambda > 0$, (5.3) corresponds actually to a negative bare energy density ρ_0 . In GR instead, where the C-tensor is vanishing, solution (5.1) would be obtained for $\rho_0 = \frac{\Lambda}{\kappa} > 0$. Such a discrepancy is due to the fact that in CSMG torsion and nonmetricity are responsible for an additional contribution to the total energy density and, in particular, they depend on the cosmological constant in the following way:

$$S^t = \mp 6\sqrt{\Lambda},\tag{5.4}$$

$$Q^t = 4P^t = 4\sqrt{3\Lambda}.\tag{5.5}$$

In this case, indeed, by evaluating explicitly the energy density and pressure associated to the C-tensor, we obtain, respectively

$$\rho_{eff} = \frac{3\Lambda}{2\kappa}, \qquad p_{eff} = -\frac{3\Lambda}{2\kappa},$$
(5.6)

which are consistent with a perfect fluid described by a cosmological constant, i.e. $w_{eff} = -1$.

²We note that the last of (4.20) predicts the possibility of a big bounce still singular, i.e. $a_B = 0$.

5.2 Power law solutions reproducing radiation and matter dominated eras

Here we discuss power law solutions for $\epsilon = -1$, which are displayed by

$$a(t) = a_0 t^m, (5.7)$$

$$\theta(t) = \pm \frac{\sqrt{3}}{m} t^2 + \theta_0, \tag{5.8}$$

$$\rho(t) = -\frac{3m^2}{2\kappa} \frac{1}{t^2},\tag{5.9}$$

where a_0 , θ_0 are arbitrary constants and the parameter m is related to the polytropic index by

$$w = \frac{2}{3m} - 1. \tag{5.10}$$

Torsion and nonmetricity vectors are then given by

$$S^t = \mp \frac{6\sqrt{3}m}{t},\tag{5.11}$$

$$Q^t = 4P^t = \frac{12m}{t},$$
 (5.12)

and they decay linearly in time. We note that by choosing properly the value of m we can reproduce for the scale factor the well-known behaviours of the radiation and matter dominated eras, i.e. $m_{rad} = 1/2$ and $m_{mat} = 2/3$, corresponding respectively to the GR values w = 1/3 and w = 0, which are correctly reproduced by (5.10). Also in this case, moreover, the bare energy density turns out to be negative for all values of m and always decaying as the square of the time in agreement with the power law behaviour. Then, in analogy with the discussion of subsec. 5.1, it can be shown that the C-tensor is responsible for the missing energy density, and the evaluation of ρ_{eff} and p_{eff} gives us

$$\rho_{eff} = \frac{9m^2}{2\kappa t^2}, \qquad p_{eff} = -\frac{m}{\kappa t^2} \left(3 - \frac{9m}{2}\right),$$
(5.13)

resulting in the effective polytropic index $w_{eff} = \frac{2}{3m} - 1$, in agreement with (5.10).

5.3 Solution reproducing linear growth of the scale factor

A power law solution with m = 1 exists also for $\epsilon = 1$, in the peculiar case $p = -\rho/3$. It is displayed by:

$$a(t) = a_0 t,$$
 (5.14)

$$\theta(t) = \theta_1 t^2 + \theta_0, \tag{5.15}$$

$$\rho(t) = \frac{3}{2\kappa\theta_1^2} \left(-1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sqrt{1 + \sqrt{1 + 16\theta_1^2}} \right) \frac{1}{t^2},\tag{5.16}$$

where a_0 , θ_0 and θ_1 are arbitrary constants. In this case, moreover, it results that $\rho > 0$. Therefore, we have

$$S^{t} = \frac{6}{\theta_{1}} \left(-1 + \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sqrt{1 + \sqrt{1 + 16\theta_{1}^{2}}} \right) \frac{1}{t},$$
(5.17)

$$Q^{t} = 4P^{t} = 8\left(1 - \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{1 + \sqrt{1 + 16\theta_{1}^{2}}}}\right)\frac{1}{t}.$$
(5.18)

We conclude this section by noting that for $\beta = 0$ relations (4.19) boil down to

$$\kappa \rho \leq -\frac{12}{\dot{\theta}^2} \quad \cup \quad \kappa \rho = -\frac{6}{\dot{\theta}^2} \quad \cup \quad \kappa \rho \geq 0,$$
(5.19)

and it is quite immediate to check that all the solutions previously described comply with these requirements.

6 Perturbations on FLRW background

In this section we are interested in the propagation of gravitational waves on a de Sitter background, described by the exact solution discussed in Sec. 5.1. Following the convention of [79, 80], we adopt for the metric and the pseudo-scalar field the following perturbative expansion:

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \bar{g}_{\mu\nu} + h_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \theta = \theta + \delta\theta, \tag{6.1}$$

where bar quantities denote the results of section 5.1. In particular, by choosing the gauge condition $h_{t\mu} = 0$ and assuming a wave propagating along the z-axis, the purely tensor modes are described by

$$\delta\theta = 0, \qquad h_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} h_+ & h_\times & 0\\ h_\times & -h_+ & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.2}$$

where h_+ and h_{\times} are functions of t and z alone. Regarding the affine sector, we expand the connection as

$$\Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \bar{\Gamma}^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} + \delta\Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}, \tag{6.3}$$

where in $\delta\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$ are included, in principle, the perturbations of all the irreducible components, namely the tensors $\delta q_{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $\delta\Omega_{\mu\nu\rho}$, which we assume to preserve the symmetries of the unperturbed rank-3 tensors, and the vector parts δS^{μ} , δP^{μ} and δQ^{μ} . As in (6.1), all the connection components are considered only functions of t and z. Then, by considering the first order of the linearized equations of motion for the connection, it can be verified that several components of the rank-3 tensor perturbations can be algebraically related, leading to:

$$\delta q_{110} = \delta q_{202}, \qquad \delta q_{102} = \delta q_{201}, \qquad \delta q_{232} = \delta q_{113}, \qquad \delta q_{123} = \delta q_{213}, \tag{6.4}$$

$$\delta\Omega_{111} = -\delta\Omega_{122} = -\delta\Omega_{212} = \frac{3}{2a\sqrt{\Lambda}}\delta\Omega'_{112}, \qquad \delta\Omega_{211} = -\delta\Omega_{222} = \delta\Omega_{112}, \tag{6.5}$$

where temporal and spacial indices are denoted by 0 and 1, 2, 3, respectively while primes represent derivatives with respect to z. In particular, the tensor part of nonmetricity is then determined in its spatial dependence by the harmonic oscillator equation

$$\delta\Omega_{112}'' + \frac{4\Lambda}{9}a^2\delta\Omega_{112} = 0, (6.6)$$

which is solved by

$$\delta\Omega_{112} = C_1(t)\cos\left(\frac{2\sqrt{\Lambda}}{3}a(t)z\right) + C_2(t)\sin\left(\frac{2\sqrt{\Lambda}}{3}a(t)z\right),\tag{6.7}$$

where C_1 and C_2 are arbitrary functions of time. Concerning the vector components of the connection, instead, they turn to be identically vanishing as expected, i.e. $\delta P^{\mu} = \delta Q^{\mu} = \delta S^{\mu} = 0$. At this point, it can be checked that the scalar field equation is automatically satisfied and the set of solutions is consistent. The remaining equations stemming from the linearization of (2.4) form a system of coupled equations relating the metric and the rank-3 torsion perturbations, given by

$$\frac{6}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\delta q'_{201} + \left(2a\delta q_{202} - \sqrt{3}\delta q_{213}\right) = \left(\frac{3}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\dot{h}'_{\times} - 2\sqrt{3}h'_{\times} - \frac{3}{2}a\dot{h}_{+} + \sqrt{3\Lambda}ah_{+}\right),\tag{6.8}$$

$$\frac{6}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\delta q_{113}' + \left(\sqrt{3}a^2\delta q_{202} + 2a\delta q_{213}\right) = \left(-\frac{3}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}h_+'' - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}a^2\dot{h}_+ + \sqrt{\Lambda}a^2h_+\right),\tag{6.9}$$

$$\frac{6}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\delta q'_{202} + \left(\sqrt{3}\delta q_{113} - 2a\delta q_{201}\right) = \left(-\frac{3}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\dot{h}'_{+} + 2\sqrt{3}h'_{+} - \frac{3}{2}a\dot{h}_{\times} + \sqrt{3\Lambda}ah_{\times}\right), \quad (6.10)$$

$$\frac{6}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\delta q'_{213} - \left(2a\delta q_{113} + \sqrt{3}a^2\delta q_{201}\right) = \left(-\frac{3}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}h''_{\times} - \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}a^2\dot{h}_{\times} + \sqrt{\Lambda}a^2h_{\times}\right).$$
(6.11)

The metric equations instead reduce to

$$\ddot{h}_{+} - \frac{1}{a^{2}}h_{+}'' - 4\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}}\dot{h}_{+} + \frac{4\Lambda}{3}h_{+} = 2\left(\frac{1}{a^{2}}\delta q_{113}' - \dot{\delta}q_{202}\right) + \sqrt{\Lambda}\left(\sqrt{3}\delta q_{202} + \frac{1}{a}\delta q_{213}\right), \quad (6.12)$$
$$\ddot{h}_{-} - \frac{1}{a}h_{+}'' - 4\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}}\dot{h}_{-} + \frac{4\Lambda}{3}h_{-} = 2\left(\frac{1}{a^{2}}\delta q_{-}' + \dot{\delta}q_{-}\right) - \sqrt{\Lambda}\left(\sqrt{3}\delta q_{202} + \frac{1}{a}\delta q_{213}\right), \quad (6.13)$$

$$\ddot{h}_{\times} - \frac{1}{a^2} h_{\times}'' - 4\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}} \dot{h}_{\times} + \frac{4\Lambda}{3} h_{\times} = 2\left(\frac{1}{a^2} \delta q_{213}' + \dot{\delta q}_{201}\right) - \sqrt{\Lambda} \left(\sqrt{3} \delta q_{201} + \frac{1}{a} \delta q_{113}\right), \quad (6.13)$$

where we used the fact that $\dot{a} = a\sqrt{\Lambda/3}$ and $\ddot{a} = a\Lambda/3$. In the adiabatic limit, where the scale factor can be considered nearly constant during the propagation of the wave signal, it is possible to analyze the above equations in Fourier space, where they boil down to the algebraic problem

$$ik\delta q_{201} + \frac{\sqrt{\Lambda}}{6} \left(2\delta q_{202} - \sqrt{3}\delta q_{213} \right) = \frac{\sqrt{\Lambda}}{12} \left[\left(3i\omega + 2\sqrt{3\Lambda} \right) h_+ + k \left(\frac{6}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\omega - 4i\sqrt{3} \right) h_\times \right],$$
(6.14)

$$ik\delta q_{113} + \frac{\sqrt{\Lambda}}{6} \left(\sqrt{3}\delta q_{202} + 2\delta q_{213}\right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(k^2 + i\frac{\omega}{2}\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}} + \frac{\Lambda}{3}\right)h_+, \tag{6.15}$$

$$ik\delta q_{202} + \frac{\sqrt{\Lambda}}{6} \left(\sqrt{3}\delta q_{113} - 2\delta q_{201}\right) = \frac{\sqrt{\Lambda}}{12} \left[\left(3i\omega + 2\sqrt{3\Lambda}\right)h_{\times} - k\left(\frac{6}{\sqrt{\Lambda}}\omega - 4i\sqrt{3}\right)h_{+} \right],\tag{6.16}$$

$$ik\delta q_{213} + \frac{\sqrt{\Lambda}}{6} \left(-2\delta q_{113} - \sqrt{3}\delta q_{201} \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(k^2 + i\frac{\omega}{2}\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}} + \frac{\Lambda}{3} \right) h_{\times}, \tag{6.17}$$

and

$$\left(\omega^2 - k^2 - \frac{4\Lambda}{3} - 4i\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}}\omega\right)h_+ = -2ik\,\delta q_{113} - (2i\omega + \sqrt{3\Lambda})\delta q_{202} - \sqrt{\Lambda}\,\delta q_{213},\qquad(6.18)$$

$$\left(\omega^2 - k^2 - \frac{4\Lambda}{3} - 4i\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}}\omega\right)h_{\times} = -2ik\,\delta q_{213} + (2i\omega + \sqrt{3\Lambda})\delta q_{201} + \sqrt{\Lambda}\,\delta q_{113}.\tag{6.19}$$

In particular, we note that we can solve for the torsion perturbations in terms of the metric stresses, leading to:

$$\delta q_{201} = \frac{p(k,\omega,\Lambda)h_+ - q(k,\omega,\Lambda)h_{\times}}{\Delta(k,\Lambda)},\tag{6.20}$$

$$\delta q_{113} = \frac{-m(k,\omega,\Lambda)h_+ + n(k,\omega,\Lambda)h_{\times}}{\Delta(k,\Lambda)},\tag{6.21}$$

$$\delta q_{202} = \frac{q(k,\omega,\Lambda)h_+ + p(k,\omega,\Lambda)h_{\times}}{\Delta(k,\Lambda)},\tag{6.22}$$

$$\delta q_{213} = -\frac{n(k,\omega,\Lambda)h_+ + m(k,\omega,\Lambda)h_{\times}}{\Delta(k,\Lambda)},\tag{6.23}$$

where we introduced

$$\Delta(k,\Lambda) \equiv 2(1296k^4 - 72\Lambda k^2 + 49\Lambda^2), \tag{6.24}$$

$$p(k,\omega,\Lambda) \equiv 2k\sqrt{\Lambda} \left(108k^2\omega + 2i\sqrt{3}\Lambda^{3/2} - 3\Lambda\omega \right), \tag{6.25}$$

$$q(k,\omega,\Lambda) \equiv 3\left(72k^4\left(5\sqrt{3}\sqrt{\Lambda} + 6i\omega\right) - 6k^2\left(3\sqrt{3}\Lambda^{3/2} + 8i\Lambda\omega\right) + 7\Lambda^2\left(2\sqrt{3}\sqrt{\Lambda} + 3i\omega\right)\right),\tag{6.26}$$

$$m(k,\omega,\Lambda) \equiv 12ik\left(108k^4 - 3k^2\Lambda + 2i\sqrt{3}\Lambda^{3/2}\omega + 4\Lambda^2\right),\tag{6.27}$$

$$n(k,\omega,\Lambda) \equiv \sqrt{\Lambda} \left(432k^4 - 12k^2 \left(\Lambda - 3i\sqrt{3}\sqrt{\Lambda}\omega \right) + 7i\sqrt{3}\Lambda^{3/2}\omega + 14\Lambda^2 \right).$$
(6.28)

The solutions for the torsion can be then rewritten in the compact matrix form

$$\mathbf{Q} = M\mathbf{H},\tag{6.29}$$

where the matrix M and the vectors \mathbf{Q}, \mathbf{H} are defined as

$$\mathbf{Q} = \begin{pmatrix} \delta q_{201} \\ \delta q_{113} \\ \delta q_{202} \\ \delta q_{213} \end{pmatrix}, \ M = \frac{1}{\Delta} \begin{pmatrix} p & -q \\ -m & n \\ q & p \\ -n & -m \end{pmatrix}, \ \mathbf{H} = \begin{pmatrix} h_+ \\ h_{\times} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(6.30)

We observe that also the equations for the metric perturbations admit an analogous formulation, given by

$$d(k,\omega,\Lambda)\mathbf{H} = N\mathbf{Q},\tag{6.31}$$

where in this case the matrix ${\cal N}$ has the form

$$N = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -2ik & -(2i\omega + \sqrt{3\Lambda}) & -\sqrt{\Lambda} \\ 2i\omega + \sqrt{3\Lambda} & \sqrt{\Lambda} & 0 & -2ik \end{pmatrix}$$
(6.32)

and the function $d(k, \omega, \Lambda)$ is defined as

$$d(k,\omega,\Lambda) \equiv \omega^2 - k^2 - \frac{4\Lambda}{3} - 4i\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}}\omega.$$
(6.33)

Then, by taking into account (6.29), the equation for the metric can be rewritten as

$$(d(k,\omega,\Lambda) I - P) \mathbf{H} = 0, \qquad (6.34)$$

where I is the identity matrix of dimension two and we used the associativity property of the matrix product for defining the square matrix P = NM, given by:

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} p_{11} & -p_{12} \\ p_{12} & p_{11} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{6.35}$$

with elements

$$p_{11} \equiv \frac{2ikm - (2i\omega + \sqrt{3\Lambda})q + \sqrt{\Lambda}n}{\Delta}, \qquad p_{12} \equiv \frac{2ikn + (2i\omega + \sqrt{3\Lambda})p - \sqrt{\Lambda}m}{\Delta}.$$
 (6.36)

It follows that the equations for the metric perturbations take the form (see (6.34)):

$$(d(k,\omega,\Lambda) - p_{11})h_{+} + p_{12}h_{\times} = 0, \qquad (6.37)$$

$$(d(k,\omega,\Lambda) - p_{11})h_{\times} - p_{12}h_{+} = 0.$$
(6.38)

We immediately see that when $p_{12} = 0$ the tensor modes do not mix each other and the cross and plus polarizations simply retain the same dispersion relation given by

$$\mathcal{D}(k,\omega) \equiv d(k,\omega,\Lambda) - p_{11} = 0.$$
(6.39)

In the general case, however, we deal with $p_{12} \neq 0$ and it is then useful to introduce the left and right handed polarization states, i.e.

$$h_L = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(h_+ - ih_{\times}), \quad h_R = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(h_+ + ih_{\times}),$$
 (6.40)

which allows us to decouple (6.34), leading to

$$(d(k,\omega,\Lambda) - p_{11} + ip_{12})h_L = 0, (6.41)$$

$$(d(k,\omega,\Lambda) - p_{11} - ip_{12})h_R = 0, (6.42)$$

from which it is possible to obtain the dispersion relations

$$\mathcal{D}_{L,R}(k,\omega) \equiv d(k,\omega,\Lambda) - p_{11} \pm ip_{12} = 0.$$
(6.43)

They imply the emergence of birefringence as in the metric formulation of CSMG (see [78–80] for a comparison), with the asymmetry quantified by the parameter p_{12} . Solving for ω yields:

$$\omega_L = \pm \frac{\sqrt{36k^4 - 12k^3\sqrt{\Lambda} - 35k^2\Lambda - 18k\Lambda^{3/2} - 3\Lambda^2}}{2\left(3k + \sqrt{\Lambda}\right)} + i\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{12}},$$
(6.44)

$$\omega_R = \pm \frac{\sqrt{36k^4 + 12k^3\sqrt{\Lambda} - 35k^2\Lambda + 18k\Lambda^{3/2} - 3\Lambda^2}}{2\left(3k - \sqrt{\Lambda}\right)} + i\sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{12}},\tag{6.45}$$

and we immediately identify in (6.44)-(6.45) the cosmological damping due to the cosmological constant, without any difference between the left and the right polarization. In addition, we observe that in order to have the propagation of wave perturbations we have to require

$$36k^4 \pm 12\sqrt{\Lambda}k^3 - 35\Lambda k^2 \pm 18\Lambda^{3/2}k - 3\Lambda^2 > 0, \tag{6.46}$$

leading to

$$k < 0, \ 0 < \Lambda < 9k^2; \qquad k > 0, \ 0 < \Lambda < \gamma k^2,$$
(6.47)

for the left mode and

$$k > 0, \ 0 < \Lambda < 9k^2; \qquad k < 0, \ 0 < \Lambda < \gamma k^2,$$
 (6.48)

for the right mode, where the parameter γ is

$$\gamma = \frac{1}{9} \left(\sqrt[3]{2592\sqrt{62} - 6697} - \frac{719}{\sqrt[3]{2592\sqrt{62} - 6697}} + 11 \right) \sim 0.543988.$$
(6.49)

Then, since in the adiabatic limit $|k| \gg \sqrt{\frac{\Lambda}{3}}$, from (6.47)-(6.48) one always has wave propagation and birefringence occurs for all the wave vectors under consideration. Given (6.44)-(6.45), we display the expressions of the group and phase velocity for the circularly polarized modes:

$$v_{L,R}^{g} \equiv \frac{d\omega_{L,R}}{dk} = \frac{108k^{4} \pm 54k^{3}\sqrt{\Lambda} - 18k^{2}\Lambda \mp 8k\Lambda^{\frac{3}{2}}}{2\left(3k \pm \sqrt{\Lambda}\right)^{2}\sqrt{36k^{4} \mp 12k^{3}\sqrt{\Lambda} - 35k^{2}\Lambda \mp 18k\Lambda^{\frac{3}{2}} - 3\Lambda^{2}}},$$
(6.50)
$$v_{L,R}^{p} \equiv \frac{\omega_{L,R}}{k} = \frac{\sqrt{36k^{4} \mp 12k^{3}\sqrt{\Lambda} - 35k^{2}\Lambda \mp 18k\Lambda^{3/2} - 3\Lambda^{2}}}{2k\left(3k \pm \sqrt{\Lambda}\right)}.$$
(6.51)

It is useful to expand these quantities in a power series of the parameter $\epsilon \equiv \frac{\sqrt{\Lambda}}{k}$ which, in the adiabatic limit, can be taken as $|\epsilon| \ll 1$. We obtain

$$v_{L,R}^{g} = 1 + \frac{\epsilon^2}{3} \pm \frac{4\epsilon^3}{9} + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^4\right), \qquad (6.52)$$

$$v_{L,R}^{p} = 1 \mp \frac{\epsilon}{2} - \frac{\epsilon^{2}}{3} \mp \frac{2\epsilon^{3}}{9} + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^{4}\right).$$

$$(6.53)$$

These results are in agreement with the discussion in [63] and, as expected, the group velocity turns out to be greater than the vacuum speed of light and independent upon the type of polarization at order $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2)$. From these expressions it is clear, therefore, that a measurement of the phase velocity of gravitational waves is much more efficient in resolving the two polarizations states, given that $|v_L^p - v_R^p| \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon)$, whereas in the case of a group velocity detection it is expected $|v_L^g - v_R^g| \sim \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^3)$. The deviation of the group velocity of both polarizations from the speed of light can be, in principle, compared with the current constraint on gravitational waves speed derived in [94], which reads

$$-3 \times 10^{-15} \le v_q - 1 \le 7 \times 10^{-16}. \tag{6.54}$$

If we assume a magnitude of the wavenumber $k = 10^{-7} \,\mathrm{m}^{-1}$, corresponding to a frequency $\nu \approx 50 \,\mathrm{Hz}$ well inside the sensitivity curves of ground-based interferometers, and the measured value of the cosmological constant $\Lambda_{\exp} \approx 10^{-52} \,\mathrm{m}^{-2}$ we calculate a theoretically expected deviation $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) = 10^{-38}$. Therefore the bound (6.54) is not sufficiently tight in order to falsify this model of modified gravity. However, the dependence of the deviation parameter

with respect to the wavenumber, i.e. $\epsilon^2 \propto k^{-2}$, indicates that for detections in the lowfrequencies domain the expected deviation would result significantly larger. By considering a signal in the mHz band, which will become accessible with the space interferometer LISA, we obtain a much greater expected deviation $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) = 10^{-29}$. The maximum magnitude for the deviation parameter is reached in the case of a nHz gravitational wave, detectable with pulsar timing arrays, which we calculate to be $\mathcal{O}(\epsilon^2) = 10^{-17}$.

6.1 Scalar modes

To study the evolution of the scalar sector we consider the scalar perturbation $\delta\theta$ together with the scalar modes of the metric [80], which for the gauge choice of sec. 6 are encoded in the trace $h = h_i^i$ and a traceless contribution depending on gradients of a function B, i.e.

$$h_{ij} = \frac{1}{3}\bar{g}_{ij}h + \partial_i\partial_j B - \frac{1}{3}\bar{g}_{ij}\partial^k\partial_k B.$$
(6.55)

We expect that these scalar modes couple to components of affine perturbations that behave as scalars under spatial rotations, that is to say the component $\delta\Omega_{000}$ of the tensor part of nonmetricity and the time component of the torsion and nonmetricity vectors, i.e. δS^t , δP^t and δQ^t . We note that also contributions of the form $\delta\Omega_{0ij} = \psi \delta_{ij}$ would in principle be allowed, but they are eventually ruled out by the traceless character of $\delta\Omega_{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $\delta q_{\mu\nu\rho}$. Therefore, assuming again a wave propagating along the z-axis, we find the following solution for the metric perturbation:

$$h_{xx} = h_{yy} = a^2 \left(-\frac{c_1}{3\sqrt{3\Lambda}} e^{-\sqrt{3\Lambda}t} + \frac{c_2}{3} \right),$$
(6.56)

$$h_{zz} = a^2 \left(-\frac{c_1}{3\sqrt{3\Lambda}} e^{-\sqrt{3\Lambda}t} + \frac{c_2}{3} + f(z) \right), \tag{6.57}$$

so that

$$h = -\frac{c_1}{\sqrt{3\Lambda}} e^{-\sqrt{3\Lambda}t} + c_2 + f(z).$$
(6.58)

The pseudo-scalar perturbation is instead given by

$$\delta\theta = -\frac{c_1}{6\Lambda^{3/2}}e^{-\sqrt{3\Lambda}t} + \frac{c_2}{2\sqrt{3}\Lambda} + c_0, \qquad (6.59)$$

while for the affine perturbations we have $\delta\Omega_{000} = 0$ and

$$\delta S^t = \frac{c_1}{2\sqrt{3}} e^{-\sqrt{3\Lambda}t},\tag{6.60}$$

$$\delta Q^t = 4\delta P^t = -\frac{5c_1}{3}e^{-\sqrt{3\Lambda t}}.$$
(6.61)

In the above expressions c_0 , c_1 , c_2 are constants of integration and f(z) is an arbitrary function of z. We observe, therefore, that in agreement with the predictions of the purely metric formulation of CSMG, also in this case scalar polarizations do not propagate as a wave, but they decay exponentially in time over a time scale t_D of order $t_D \sim 1/3H_0$, so that in the adiabatic limit they can be considered nearly constant with respect to the tensor polarizations.

7 Summary and discussion

In this work we considered projective invariant metric-affine Chern-Simons gravity, where the general relativity action is modified by including a parity violating term coupled to a pseudo-scalar field $\theta(x)$. Projective symmetry is recovered via the inclusion of an additional nonmetricity contribution to the usual Pontryagin density, assuring the absence of instabilities of the same nature as in [41].

Dynamical instabilities can also arise in the presence of third order derivatives of the metric in the field equations. While in metric CSMG they enter directly the metric equations via the C-tensor, in the metric-affine formulation they can only arise on half-shell (once the solution for the connection is considered), from terms featuring first derivatives of the affine components. In particular, in the metric-affine theories one has the option of restricting the analysis to a specific subclass of the most general metric-affine geometry (Weyl, torsionless or metric compatible geometries, for instance) in such a way that possibly dangerous terms are a priori absent. Regarding metric-affine CSMG, when the matter sector does not couple to the connection, we proved that these terms can only arise from the 3-rank tensor components of nonmetricity and torsion, so that when these are vanishing, the absence of higher derivatives of the metric in the field equations is guaranteed.

If instead the tensor components are present, as we assumed in deriving our results, then one has to resort to the same solutions considered in metric CSMG, i.e. consider the theory in the small coupling limit or exploiting specific symmetries of the solutions to get rid of terms introducing higher-order derivatives.

A natural setting where this happens is provided by the isotropic and homogeneous FLRW spacetime. In such a cosmological setting, one can exploit the spacetime symmetries in order to constrain the most general form of the affine connection. On one hand, this immediately implies that the tensor part of torsion is vanishing. On the other hand, it allows to greatly simplify the connection field equations reducing them to algebraic equations. This allows to obtain exact solutions for torsion and nonmetricity, which are only characterized by their vector components, ultimately sourced by the scale factor and time derivatives of the scalar field. In particular, we obtain the condition of vanishing tensor part of nonmetricity as a solution to the equations. Summing up, although we consider the most general affine sector, including a priori the tensor components of torsion and nonmetricity, we obtain the vanishing of the former imposing the FRW symmetries and of the latter as a dynamical condition solving the equations.

Reinserting the solutions back into the remaining equations, one eventually obtains three independent conditions that can be solved yielding different profiles for the scale factor and the scalar field. We reported three different solutions. Two of them feature power law and linear behaviors for a(t), with the scalar field growing quadratically in time. In particular, the power law behavior allows to reproduce the well-known radiation and matter dominated scenarios and it is characterized by a negative bare energy density ρ_0 , which acquires a correction due to the additional energy contribution of torsion and nonmetricity, resulting in a positive total energy density and a standard background expansion. The same holds for the third solution, describing a de Sitter phase of expansion, where $\rho_0 = -\Lambda/2\kappa^2$ but $\tilde{\rho} = \Lambda/\kappa^2$. In this solution, the scalar field grows linearly, playing the role of a cosmological time, in agreement with [79].

We then proceeded to study gravitational wave propagation on the de Sitter background.

We first focused on purely tensor modes, neglecting the scalar field perturbation, considering a transverse and traceless metric perturbation and perturbing all affine components as well. Consistently, the perturbations of the tensorial components, $\delta q_{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $\delta\Omega_{\mu\nu\rho}$ are the only nonvanishing ones. However, nonmetricity perturbations are decoupled from metric ones and behave as a harmonic oscillator, without propagating. Torsion perturbations instead affect the propagation of the gravitational wave, modifying its dispersion relation and introducing parity violating effects. These are apparent once the wave is decomposed into left and right handed circular polarizations. The phase and group velocities can be computed in the adiabatic approximation and they are both deviating from the speed of light in vacuum. The sign of the correction depends on the chirality of the wave, so that left and right handed modes travel at different speeds. Thus, we establish the existence of velocity birefringence in the propagation of gravitational waves in metric-affine Chern-Simons theory.

The deviation in the group velocity can be compared to the current bound on the speed of gravitational waves. However, for a wave in the frequency band of current detectors and using the measured value for the cosmological constant we conclude that the experimental bound is not sufficiently tight to constrain the theory.

Also, current experimental constraints on gravitational wave birefringence [95] have only been used to constrain models producing a $\sim k^3$ correction into the dispersion relation, i.e. $\sim k$ correction to the phase velocity. However, in the present case the phase velocity is modified by $\sim k^{-1}$ terms, and the bounds estimated in [95] can not be straightforwardly applied, but it deserves further analysis. The friction term, instead, is the same for both polarizations in the metric wave equation, and it is provided by the damping effect due to the universe expansion, so that parity violating effects leading to amplitude birefringence in vacuum are absent. However, as discussed in [65], such a phenomenon can arise when propagation in matter is addressed, by virtue of the kinematic damping experienced by the wave when interacting with the particles of the traversed medium.

Finally, we analysed the scalar sector of the perturbations, consisting in the pseudoscalar field $\delta\theta$ and the scalar modes contained in the metric tensor and affine components. Scalar perturbations do not carry any parity violating signature nor observable effects since the scalar modes are not propagating but they rather exponentially decay in time.

Acknowledgments

The work of F.B is supported by the postdoctoral grant CIAPOS/2021/169. The work of F. M. is supported by the Della Riccia foundation grant for the year 2022. This work is supported by the Spanish Grant FIS2017-84440-C2- 1-P funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/5011 00011033 "ERDF A way of making Europe", Grant PID2020-116567GB-C21 funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033, the project PROMETEO/2020/079 (Generalitat Valenciana), and by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the H2020-MSCA-RISE-2017 Grant No. FunFiCO-777740.

A Metric-affine formalism

In this appendix we review some basic notions about the metric-affine formalism we adopted throughout the paper. The Riemann tensor is defined in terms of the independent connection as:

$$\mathcal{R}^{\rho}_{\ \mu\sigma\nu} = \partial_{\sigma}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\sigma} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \tau\sigma}\Gamma^{\tau}_{\ \mu\nu} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \tau\nu}\Gamma^{\tau}_{\ \mu\sigma}, \tag{A.1}$$

and covariant derivatives act as

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\rho}_{\sigma} = \partial_{\mu}T^{\rho}_{\sigma} + \Gamma^{\rho}_{\lambda\mu}T^{\lambda}_{\sigma} - \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\sigma\mu}T^{\rho}_{\lambda}.$$
(A.2)

We are considering the affine connection as general as possible, so that we can introduce torsion and nonmetricity tensors, which read respectively:

$$T^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} \equiv \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} - \Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \nu\mu},$$

$$Q_{\rho\mu\nu} \equiv -\nabla_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(A.3)

In evaluating the equation of motion for the connection from (2.4), we used the generalized Palatini identity

$$\delta \mathcal{R}^{\rho}{}_{\mu\sigma\nu} = \nabla_{\sigma} \delta \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\nu} \delta \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\sigma} - T^{\lambda}{}_{\sigma\nu} \delta \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\lambda}, \tag{A.4}$$

and the property for vector densities

$$\int d^4x \, \nabla_\mu \left(\sqrt{-g} V^\mu \right) = \int d^4x \, \partial_\mu \left(\sqrt{-g} V^\mu \right) + \int d^4x \, \sqrt{-g} \, T^\rho_{\ \mu\rho} V^\mu = \int d^4x \, \sqrt{-g} \, T^\rho_{\ \mu\rho} V^\mu.$$
(A.5)

We also rewrote torsion and nonmetricity in their irreducible parts:

$$T_{\mu\nu\rho} = \frac{1}{3} \left(T_{\nu} g_{\mu\rho} - T_{\rho} g_{\mu\nu} \right) + \frac{1}{6} \varepsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} S^{\sigma} + q_{\mu\nu\rho}, \tag{A.6}$$

$$Q_{\rho\mu\nu} = \frac{5Q_{\rho} - 2P_{\rho}}{18}g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{Q_{(\mu}g_{\nu)\rho} - 4P_{(\mu}g_{\nu)\rho}}{9} + \Omega_{\rho\mu\nu}.$$
 (A.7)

In particular, we introduced the trace vector

$$T_{\mu} \equiv T^{\nu}_{\ \mu\nu} \,, \tag{A.8}$$

the pseudotrace axial vector

$$S_{\mu} \equiv \varepsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} T^{\nu\rho\sigma}, \tag{A.9}$$

and the antisymmetric tensor $q_{\mu\nu\rho} = -q_{\mu\rho\nu}$ satisfying

$$\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}q_{\nu\rho\sigma} = 0, \qquad q^{\mu}_{\ \nu\mu} = 0. \tag{A.10}$$

While for what concerns the nonmetricity, we defined the Weyl vector

$$Q_{\rho} = Q_{\rho \ \mu}^{\ \mu}, \tag{A.11}$$

the second trace

$$P_{\rho} = Q^{\mu}_{\ \mu\rho} = Q^{\mu}_{\ \rho\mu},\tag{A.12}$$

and the traceless part $\Omega_{\rho\mu\nu}$, obeying

$$\Omega_{\rho\mu\nu} = \Omega_{\rho\nu\mu}.\tag{A.13}$$

It is always possible, moreover, to rewrite the affine connection as

$$\Gamma^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} = L^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} + N^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} = L^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} + K^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} + D^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu}, \tag{A.14}$$

where $L^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$ denotes the Christoffel symbols and the contorsion and disformal tensors are given by, respectively

$$K^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \left(T^{\rho}_{\ \mu\nu} - T^{\ \rho}_{\mu\ \nu} - T^{\ \rho}_{\nu\ \mu} \right) = -K^{\ \rho}_{\mu\ \nu}, \tag{A.15}$$

$$D^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} \left(Q_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} + Q_{\nu\mu}{}^{\rho} - Q^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} \right) = D^{\rho}{}_{\nu\mu}.$$
(A.16)

For a generic metric-affine structure the Riemann tensor is skew-symmetric only in its last two indices, so that we can in principle take the different traces

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \mathcal{R}^{\alpha}_{\ \mu\alpha\nu},\tag{A.17}$$

$$\hat{\mathcal{R}}_{\mu\nu} \equiv \mathcal{R}^{\alpha}_{\ \alpha\mu\nu} = \partial_{[\mu}Q_{\nu]},\tag{A.18}$$

$$\mathcal{R}^{\dagger}_{\mu\nu} \equiv g_{\mu\tau} g^{\rho\sigma} \mathcal{R}^{\tau}{}_{\rho\sigma\nu}, \qquad (A.19)$$

which are called respectively Ricci, homothetic curvature and co-Ricci tensors. In terms of the distorsion tensor the Riemann curvature can be rewritten as

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mu\rho\nu\sigma} = R_{\mu\rho\nu\sigma} + {}^{(L)}\nabla_{\nu}N_{\mu\rho\sigma} - {}^{(L)}\nabla_{\sigma}N_{\mu\rho\nu} + N_{\mu\lambda\nu}N^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\sigma} - N_{\mu\lambda\sigma}N^{\lambda}{}_{\rho\nu}, \qquad (A.20)$$

where $R^{\mu}_{\ \nu\rho\sigma}$ and ${}^{(L)}\nabla_{\mu}$ are built from the Levi Civita connection. The affine Einstein tensor $\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu}$ can be therefore rewritten as

$$\mathcal{G}_{\mu\nu} = G_{\mu\nu} + C_{\mu\nu},\tag{A.21}$$

where we introduced the C-tensor

$$C_{\mu\nu} \equiv^{(L)} \nabla_{\rho} N^{\rho}_{(\mu\nu)} - {}^{(L)} \nabla_{(\nu} N^{\rho}_{\ \ \mu)\rho} + N^{\rho}_{\ \lambda\rho} N^{\lambda}_{\ (\mu\nu)} - N^{\rho}_{\ \lambda(\nu)} N^{\lambda}_{\ \ \mu)\rho} + - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \left({}^{(L)} \nabla_{\rho} N^{\rho\sigma}_{\ \ \sigma} - {}^{(L)} \nabla_{\sigma} N^{\rho\sigma}_{\ \ \rho} + N^{\rho}_{\ \lambda\rho} N^{\lambda\sigma}_{\ \ \sigma} - N^{\rho}_{\ \lambda\sigma} N^{\lambda\sigma}_{\ \ \rho} \right).$$
(A.22)

It is worth mentioning that as opposed to the metric formulation, in this case the C-tensor is not traceless, i.e.

$$C = C^{\mu}_{\ \mu} = -{}^{(L)}\nabla_{\rho}N^{\rho\sigma}_{\ \sigma} + {}^{(L)}\nabla_{\sigma}N^{\rho\sigma}_{\ \rho} - N^{\rho}_{\ \lambda\rho}N^{\lambda\sigma}_{\ \sigma} + N^{\rho}_{\ \lambda\sigma}N^{\lambda\sigma}_{\ \rho}.$$
(A.23)

This implies that vacuum solutions of CSMG are not necessarily characterized by a vanishing Ricci scalar as in GR, since now the following holds

$$R = C - \kappa T, \tag{A.24}$$

which allows to recast the equations for the metric in the form

$$R_{\mu\nu} = \kappa T_{\mu\nu} - C_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu} \left(\kappa T - C\right).$$
 (A.25)

References

- [1] A. De Felice and S. Tsujikawa, f(R) theories, Living Rev. Rel. 13 (2010) 3 [1002.4928].
- [2] S. Nojiri and S.D. Odintsov, Unified cosmic history in modified gravity: from F(R) theory to Lorentz non-invariant models, Phys. Rept. 505 (2011) 59 [1011.0544].

- [3] G.J. Olmo, Palatini Approach to Modified Gravity: f(R) Theories and Beyond, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 20 (2011) 413 [1101.3864].
- [4] Y.-F. Cai, S. Capozziello, M. De Laurentis and E.N. Saridakis, f(T) teleparallel gravity and cosmology, Rept. Prog. Phys. 79 (2016) 106901 [1511.07586].
- [5] S. Nojiri, S. Odintsov and V. Oikonomou, Modified gravity theories on a nutshell: Inflation, bounce and late-time evolution, Physics Reports 692 (2017) 1.
- [6] M. Krssak, R.J. van den Hoogen, J.G. Pereira, C.G. Böhmer and A.A. Coley, *Teleparallel theories of gravity: illuminating a fully invariant approach*, *Class. Quant. Grav.* **36** (2019) 183001 [1810.12932].
- [7] G.J. Olmo, D. Rubiera-Garcia and A. Wojnar, Stellar structure models in modified theories of gravity: Lessons and challenges, Phys. Rept. 876 (2020) 1 [1912.05202].
- [8] F. Cabral, F.S.N. Lobo and D. Rubiera-Garcia, Fundamental Symmetries and Spacetime Geometries in Gauge Theories of Gravity—Prospects for Unified Field Theories, Universe 6 (2020) 238 [2012.06356].
- [9] T. Harko and F.S.N. Lobo, Beyond Einstein's General Relativity: Hybrid metric-Palatini gravity and curvature-matter couplings, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 29 (2020) 2030008 [2007.15345].
- [10] S. Capozziello and F. Bajardi, Non-Local Gravity Cosmology: an Overview, 2201.04512.
- [11] P.G.S. Fernandes, P. Carrilho, T. Clifton and D.J. Mulryne, The 4D Einstein-Gauss-Bonnet theory of gravity: a review, Class. Quant. Grav. 39 (2022) 063001 [2202.13908].
- [12] D. Iosifidis and L. Ravera, Parity Violating Metric-Affine Gravity Theories, Class. Quant. Grav. 38 (2021) 115003 [2009.03328].
- [13] M. Li, Y. Tong and D. Zhao, Possible consistent model of parity violations in the symmetric teleparallel gravity, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 104002 [2203.06912].
- [14] M. Crisostomi, K. Noui, C. Charmousis and D. Langlois, Beyond lovelock gravity: Higher derivative metric theories, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 044034.
- [15] J. Qiao, T. Zhu, W. Zhao and A. Wang, Waveform of gravitational waves in the ghost-free parity-violating gravities, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 124058 [1909.03815].
- [16] S. Alexander and N. Yunes, Chern-Simons Modified General Relativity, Phys. Rept. 480 (2009) 1 [0907.2562].
- [17] F. Sulantay, M. Lagos and M. Bañados, Chiral Gravitational Waves in Palatini Chern-Simons, 2211.08925.
- [18] T. Zhu, W. Zhao, Y. Huang, A. Wang and Q. Wu, Effects of parity violation on non-gaussianity of primordial gravitational waves in Hořava-Lifshitz gravity, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 063508 [1305.0600].
- [19] C. Gong, T. Zhu, R. Niu, Q. Wu, J.-L. Cui, X. Zhang et al., Gravitational wave constraints on Lorentz and parity violations in gravity: High-order spatial derivative cases, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 044034 [2112.06446].
- [20] V.A. Kostelecky, Gravity, Lorentz violation, and the standard model, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 105009 [hep-th/0312310].
- [21] R. Bluhm and V.A. Kostelecky, Spontaneous Lorentz violation, Nambu-Goldstone modes, and gravity, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 065008 [hep-th/0412320].
- [22] Q.G. Bailey and V.A. Kostelecky, Signals for Lorentz violation in post-Newtonian gravity, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 045001 [gr-qc/0603030].
- [23] R. Bluhm, S.-H. Fung and V.A. Kostelecky, Spontaneous Lorentz and Diffeomorphism Violation, Massive Modes, and Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 065020 [0712.4119].

- [24] A. Delhom, J.R. Nascimento, G.J. Olmo, A.Y. Petrov and P.J. Porfírio, Metric-affine bumblebee gravity: classical aspects, Eur. Phys. J. C 81 (2021) 287 [1911.11605].
- [25] A. Delhom, J.R. Nascimento, G.J. Olmo, A.Y. Petrov and P.J. Porfírio, Radiative corrections in metric-affine bumblebee model, Phys. Lett. B 826 (2022) 136932 [2010.06391].
- [26] A. Delhom, T. Mariz, J.R. Nascimento, G.J. Olmo, A.Y. Petrov and P.J. Porfirio, Spontaneous Lorentz symmetry breaking and one-loop effective action in the metric-affine bumblebee gravity, 2202.11613.
- [27] R. Jackiw and S.Y. Pi, Chern-Simons modification of general relativity, Phys. Rev. D 68 (2003) 104012 [gr-qc/0308071].
- [28] S.M. Carroll, G.B. Field and R. Jackiw, Limits on a Lorentz and Parity Violating Modification of Electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 41 (1990) 1231.
- [29] D. Colladay and V.A. Kostelecky, CPT violation and the standard model, Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 6760 [hep-ph/9703464].
- [30] D. Colladay and V.A. Kostelecky, Lorentz violating extension of the standard model, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 116002 [hep-ph/9809521].
- [31] F.W. Hehl, J.D. McCrea, E.W. Mielke and Y. Ne'eman, Metric affine gauge theory of gravity: Field equations, Noether identities, world spinors, and breaking of dilation invariance, Phys. Rept. 258 (1995) 1 [gr-qc/9402012].
- [32] J. Zanelli, Lecture notes on Chern-Simons (super-)gravities. Second edition (February 2008), in 7th Mexican Workshop on Particles and Fields, 2, 2005 [hep-th/0502193].
- [33] S. Deser, First-order formalism and odd-derivative actions, Class. Quant. Grav. 23 (2006) 5773 [gr-qc/0606006].
- [34] F.W. Hehl, W. Kopczyński, J.D. McCrea and E.W. Mielke, Chern-simons terms in metric-affine space-time: Bianchi identities as euler-lagrange equations, Journal of Mathematical Physics 32 (1991) 2169 [https://doi.org/10.1063/1.529191].
- [35] M. Bañados, O. Chandía, N. Grandi, F.A. Schaposnik and G.A. Silva, Chern-simons formulation of noncommutative gravity in three dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 084012.
- [36] S.L. Cacciatori, M.M. Caldarelli, A. Giacomini, D. Klemm and D.S. Mansi, Chern-simons formulation of three-dimensional gravity with torsion and nonmetricity, Journal of Geometry and Physics 56 (2006) 2523.
- [37] M. Botta Cantcheff, Einstein-cartan formulation of chern-simons lorentz-violating gravity, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 025002.
- [38] A. Cisterna, C. Corral and S. del Pino, Static and rotating black strings in dynamical Chern–Simons modified gravity, The European Physical Journal C 79 (2019) 400.
- [39] S. Boudet, F. Bombacigno, G.J. Olmo and P.J. Porfirio, Quasinormal modes of Schwarzschild black holes in projective invariant Chern-Simons modified gravity, JCAP 05 (2022) 032 [2203.04000].
- [40] N. Yunes and C.F. Sopuerta, Perturbations of schwarzschild black holes in chern-simons modified gravity, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 064007.
- [41] J. Beltrán Jiménez and A. Delhom, Ghosts in metric-affine higher order curvature gravity, The European Physical Journal C 79 (2019) 656.
- [42] F. Bombacigno, S. Boudet, G.J. Olmo and G. Montani, Big bounce and future time singularity resolution in bianchi i cosmologies: The projective invariant nieh-yan case, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 124031.
- [43] S.H. Alexander, Is cosmic parity violation responsible for the anomalies in the wmap data?, Physics Letters B 660 (2008) 444.

- [44] A. Lue, L. Wang and M. Kamionkowski, Cosmological signature of new parity-violating interactions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 (1999) 1506.
- [45] N. Bartolo, G. Orlando and M. Shiraishi, Measuring chiral gravitational waves in Chern-Simons gravity with CMB bispectra, JCAP 01 (2019) 050 [1809.11170].
- [46] N. Bartolo and G. Orlando, Parity breaking signatures from a Chern-Simons coupling during inflation: the case of non-Gaussian gravitational waves, JCAP 07 (2017) 034 [1706.04627].
- [47] S.H.S. Alexander, M.E. Peskin and M.M. Sheikh-Jabbari, Leptogenesis from gravity waves in models of inflation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 081301.
- [48] J. García-Bellido, M. García Pérez and A. González-Arroyo, Chern-simons production during preheating in hybrid inflation models, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 023504.
- [49] S.H.S. Alexander and S.J. Gates, Can the string scale be related to the cosmic baryon asymmetry?, Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics **2006** (2006) 018.
- [50] V. Cardoso and L. Gualtieri, Perturbations of schwarzschild black holes in dynamical chern-simons modified gravity, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 064008.
- [51] V. Cardoso and L. Gualtieri, Erratum: Perturbations of schwarzschild black holes in dynamical chern-simons modified gravity [phys. rev. d 80, 064008 (2009)], Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 089903.
- [52] C. Molina, P. Pani, V. Cardoso and L. Gualtieri, Gravitational signature of schwarzschild black holes in dynamical chern-simons gravity, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 124021.
- [53] C.F. Sopuerta and N. Yunes, Extreme- and intermediate-mass ratio inspirals in dynamical chern-simons modified gravity, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 064006.
- [54] S.D. Odintsov and V.K. Oikonomou, f(r) gravity inflation with string-corrected axion dark matter, *Phys. Rev. D* **99** (2019) 064049.
- [55] S.D. Odintsov, V.K. Oikonomou and F.P. Fronimos, Quantitative predictions for f(R) gravity primordial gravitational waves, Phys. Dark Univ. 35 (2022) 100950 [2108.11231].
- [56] S.D. Odintsov, V.K. Oikonomou and R. Myrzakulov, Spectrum of primordial gravitational waves in modified gravities: A short overview, Symmetry 14 (2022).
- [57] S.D. Odintsov and V.K. Oikonomou, Chirality of gravitational waves in chern-simons f(r) gravity cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 104054.
- [58] A. Conroy and T. Koivisto, Parity-Violating Gravity and GW170817 in Non-Riemannian Cosmology, JCAP 12 (2019) 016 [1908.04313].
- [59] W. Zhao, T. Zhu, J. Qiao and A. Wang, Waveform of gravitational waves in the general parity-violating gravities, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 024002 [1909.10887].
- [60] A. Nishizawa and T. Kobayashi, Parity-violating gravity and gw170817, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 124018.
- [61] A. Chatzistavrakidis, G. Karagiannis, G. Manolakos and P. Schupp, Axion gravitodynamics, Lense-Thirring effect, and gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 104029 [2111.04388].
- [62] M. Hohmann and C. Pfeifer, Gravitational wave birefringence in spatially curved teleparallel cosmology, Phys. Lett. B 834 (2022) 137437 [2203.01856].
- [63] Q. Wu, T. Zhu, R. Niu, W. Zhao and A. Wang, Constraints on the Nieh-Yan modified teleparallel gravity with gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 024035 [2110.13870].
- [64] M. Isi, Parametrizing gravitational-wave polarizations, 2208.03372.
- [65] F. Bombacigno, F. Moretti, S. Boudet and G.J. Olmo, Landau damping for gravitational waves in parity-violating theories, 2210.07673.

- [66] D. Chesters, Dispersion of Gravitational Waves by a Collisionless Gas, Phys. Rev. D 7 (1973) 2863.
- [67] E. Asseo, D. Gerbal, J. Heyvaerts and M. Signore, General-relativistic kinetic theory of waves in a massive particle medium, Phys. Rev. D 13 (1976) 2724.
- [68] S. Gayer and C. Kennel, Possibility of Landau damping of gravitational waves, Phys. Rev. D 19 (1979) 1070.
- [69] S. Weinberg, Damping of tensor modes in cosmology, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 023503 [astro-ph/0306304].
- [70] M. Lattanzi and G. Montani, On the interaction between thermalized neutrinos and cosmological gravitational waves above the electroweak unification scale, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 20 (2005) 2607 [astro-ph/0508364].
- [71] R. Benini, M. Lattanzi and G. Montani, Signatures of the neutrino thermal history in the spectrum of primordial gravitational waves, Gen. Rel. Grav. 43 (2011) 945 [1009.6110].
- [72] R. Flauger and S. Weinberg, *Gravitational Waves in Cold Dark Matter*, *Phys. Rev. D* 97 (2018) 123506 [1801.00386].
- [73] G. Baym, S.P. Patil and C. Pethick, *Damping of gravitational waves by matter*, *Phys. Rev. D* 96 (2017) 084033 [1707.05192].
- [74] F. Moretti, F. Bombacigno and G. Montani, Gravitational Landau Damping for massive scalar modes, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 1203 [2005.08010].
- [75] F. Moretti, F. Bombacigno and G. Montani, The Role of Longitudinal Polarizations in Horndeski and Macroscopic Gravity: Introducing Gravitational Plasmas, Universe 7 (2021) 496 [2111.11342].
- [76] D. Garg and I.Y. Dodin, *Gauge-invariant gravitational waves in matter beyond linearized gravity*, 2106.05062.
- [77] D. Garg and I.Y. Dodin, Gravitational wave modes in matter, JCAP 08 (2022) 017 [2204.09095].
- [78] A. Martín-Ruiz and L.F. Urrutia, Gravitational waves propagation in nondynamical Chern-Simons gravity, Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 26 (2017) 1750148 [1706.08843].
- [79] S. Nojiri, S.D. Odintsov, V.K. Oikonomou and A.A. Popov, Propagation of Gravitational Waves in Chern-Simons Axion Einstein Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 084009 [1909.01324].
- [80] S. Nojiri, S.D. Odintsov, V.K. Oikonomou and A.A. Popov, Propagation of gravitational waves in Chern-Simons axion F(R) gravity, Phys. Dark Univ. 28 (2020) 100514 [2002.10402].
- [81] Z. Li, J. Qiao, T. Liu, T. Zhu and W. Zhao, Gravitational Waveform and Polarization from Binary Black Hole Inspiral in Dynamical Chern-Simons Gravity: From Generation to Propagation, 2211.12188.
- [82] R.P. Woodard, Avoiding dark energy with 1/r modifications of gravity, Lect. Notes Phys. 720 (2007) 403 [astro-ph/0601672].
- [83] J. Gleyzes, D. Langlois, F. Piazza and F. Vernizzi, *Healthy theories beyond Horndeski*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **114** (2015) 211101 [1404.6495].
- [84] D. Langlois and K. Noui, Degenerate higher derivative theories beyond Horndeski: evading the Ostrogradski instability, JCAP 02 (2016) 034 [1510.06930].
- [85] K. Aoki and K. Shimada, Scalar-metric-affine theories: Can we get ghost-free theories from symmetry?, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 044037 [1904.10175].

- [86] A. Baldazzi, O. Melichev and R. Percacci, Metric-Affine Gravity as an effective field theory, Annals Phys. 438 (2022) 168757 [2112.10193].
- [87] R. Percacci and E. Sezgin, New class of ghost- and tachyon-free metric affine gravities, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 084040 [1912.01023].
- [88] T. Delsate, D. Hilditch and H. Witek, Initial value formulation of dynamical chern-simons gravity, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 024027.
- [89] F.W. Hehl, G.D. Kerlick and P. Von Der Heyde, On Hypermomentum in General Relativity. 3. Coupling Hypermomentum to Geometry, Z. Naturforsch. A 31 (1976) 823.
- [90] D. Iosifidis, Cosmological Hyperfluids, Torsion and Non-metricity, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 1042 [2003.07384].
- [91] M. Hohmann, Metric-affine Geometries With Spherical Symmetry, Symmetry 12 (2020) 453 [1912.12906].
- [92] S. Bahamonde and J.G. Valcarcel, New models with independent dynamical torsion and nonmetricity fields, JCAP 09 (2020) 057 [2006.06749].
- [93] S. Bahamonde, J. Chevrier and J. Gigante Valcarcel, New black hole solutions with a dynamical traceless nonmetricity tensor in Metric-Affine Gravity, 2210.05998.
- [94] LIGO SCIENTIFIC, VIRGO, FERMI-GBM, INTEGRAL collaboration, Gravitational Waves and Gamma-rays from a Binary Neutron Star Merger: GW170817 and GRB 170817A, Astrophys. J. Lett. 848 (2017) L13 [1710.05834].
- [95] Z.-C. Zhao, Z. Cao and S. Wang, Search for the birefringence of gravitational waves with the third observing run of advanced LIGO-virgo, The Astrophysical Journal 930 (2022) 139.